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STATE OF ILLINOIS 
 

ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION 
 
 
 
Illinois Commerce Commission : 
On Its Own Motion : 
 : 
Vs. : 
 : 
The Peoples Gas Light and Coke   :   05-0341 
Company. :  
 : 
 : 
Citation for alleged violation of Commission :    
Rules regarding leakage surveys. : 
 
 

REPLY BRIEF OF THE STAFF OF 
THE ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION 

 
 Pursuant to 83 Ill. Adm. Code 200.800, Staff of the Illinois Commerce 

Commission (“Staff”), by and through its attorney, hereby files its Reply Brief in the 

above-captioned proceeding. 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

  Staff continues to advocate findings that Peoples did not act in good faith 

to come into compliance with the inside safety leakage surveys and that the offense is a 

serious offense.  Staff submits that under the facts at hand, the imposition of a 

$1,000,000 penalty is appropriate.   

 Although there is virtually no disagreement regarding the facts in this docket, 

Peoples has come to a completely contrary position in regards to its good faith, the 

serious nature of the offense and the appropriateness of the fine to be imposed.  In its 

Initial Brief Peoples argues:   

The $1 million penalty sought by Staff is excessive and unjustified 
because the public safety concerns raised by technical non-compliance 
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are minimal and Peoples Gas’ ever increasing efforts to perform the ISIs 
demonstrate its good faith.  (Peoples IB, p. 12) 
 

On the other hand, Staff has argued that “[a]ny accumulation of natural gas is 

hazardous”, that “[l]eakage surveys are critical to ensuring the safety and 

integrity of the natural gas distribution systems”, and that “Peoples has failed 

utterly to demonstrate good faith in its attempt to achieve compliance”.  (Staff IB, 

pp. 12 & 13)  In order to determine which of the contradictory viewpoints to 

adopt, the Commission should examine the reasoning behind the Company’s 

and Staff’s arguments.  

II. ARGUMENT 
 

A.  Good Faith 

 In support of its proclamations of good faith, Peoples relies largely upon its late 

filed exhibit (Resp. Ex. 1) which reflects that at the end of the year 2005, Peoples will 

have completed 116,900 due or past due inside leakage surveys, leaving 10,000 

outstanding overdue leakage surveys.  (Peoples IB, pp. 4 & 7)  Peoples views Staff as 

“fail[ing] to acknowledge Peoples Gas’ devotion of significant effort and resources to the 

performance of ISIs and the success that ultimately was achieved.”  (Id., p. 12)  

Peoples continues to attempt to shift responsibility for its failure to conduct the inside 

leak surveys upon the customers by stating that it cannot control its ability to gain 

access to its customers premises.  (Id., p. 13)  Finally, Peoples characterizes the 

10,000 inside leak surveys which it projects will remain overdue at years’ end as de 

minimus.  (Id.)  

 Staff has no quarrel with the numbers presented by Peoples.  As Staff tried to 

make clear in testimony, Staff’s review of compliance with the safety standards consists 
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of an audit of the company’s records.  (Tr., p. 38)  All of the numbers used in this 

proceeding come directly from Peoples’ records.  

 Insofar as Peoples’ “devotion of significant effort and resources” to the 

performance of inside leak surveys, it should be noted that no significant effort took 

place on the part of Peoples until it was made a respondent in this proceeding and was 

facing the likelihood of the Commission imposing a penalty.  It is remarkable that 

Peoples was able by December 4 to complete 116,900 inside leak surveys in 2005 

(Resp. Ex. 1) as compared to 28,333 in 2000, 35,735 in 2001, 20,676 in 2002, 25,165 

in 2003, and 52,297 in 2004 (Staff Ex. 1.0, Ex. D).  Peoples, while congratulating itself 

on its efforts to complete the surveys, has failed to provide a justification of why it did 

not complete the surveys during the four year timeframe it had committed to in early 

2000.   

 Peoples used various tactics to notify customers of the need for the inspection 

from 2000 to 2005.  A review of the record indicates that in 2000 Peoples used a 

combination of cold calls and appointments to access residences and began using a 

pilot two-letter campaign1.  (Resp. Ex. C, p. 4)  By its own admission, the results of this 

approach were disappointing; the Company completed only 28,333 surveys that year.  

(Resp. Ex. C, p. 4)  Nevertheless, in 2001 Peoples continued to pursue the same 

tactics, again with disappointing results, completing 35,735 due and past due surveys.   

 In 2002, Peoples used a “new” approach by assigning regular field service crews 

to complete inside surveys along with other customer work. (Resp. Ex. C, p. 5)  Peoples 

continued using cold calls, now in 3 mile sweeps and initiated the three-letter campaign.  

These approaches were unsuccessful.  At the end of the year, Peoples had only 

                                            
1 Peoples Initial Brief (p. 6) references a three-letter campaign, but that appears to be a typographical error. 
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completed 20,676 of the required surveys.  (Id.)  One is left to wonder why by the end of 

the first quarter, or surely at the midpoint of 2002, Peoples was not cognizant of the dire 

failure of the program.  After all, in early 2000, Peoples had committed to completing 

75,000 inside safety leakage surveys per year over the next 4 years.  By the start of 

2002, two years had passed and even combined, Peoples’ completions did not total 

75,000.   

 If Peoples was concerned about coming into compliance with the safety 

regulations, Peoples should have been in emergency mode by mid 2002.  Apparently it 

was not. The mere 20,676 due or past due leak surveys completed by year’s end left 

Peoples further behind in completing the surveys than it had been at the beginning of 

2002.  Peoples has offered no explanation of why additional steps were not taken at 

that time.  Indeed the “new approach” adopted in 2002, “assigning regular field service 

crews to perform ISIs along with other customer work” (Resp. Ex. C, p. 5) seems 

repetitive of matching AMR installations with inside surveys which was done in 2000 

(Resp. Ex. C, p. 4).  

 Peoples continued to plod along with its attempts at compliance.  In 2003, the 

only “new” concept applied was to “consolidate[] meter changes, AMR installs, and ISIs 

by square miles.”  (Resp. Ex. C., p. 5)  This concept appears to be another iteration of 

the “new” approaches adopted in 2000 and 2002.  Peoples continued to use the three-

letter campaign.  Not surprisingly, the results of these efforts were similar to the results 

in 2002, with completion of 25,165 due or past due leakage surveys by the end of the 

year.  Once again, 2003 ended with Peoples further behind in completing leakage 

surveys (68,936) than it had been at the beginning of the year (60,282).  (Staff Ex. 1.0, 

Ex. D) 
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 In total after 3 years of efforts to come into compliance with the requirement, 

Peoples had completed 81,576 due and past due leakage surveys.  This is only slightly 

higher than the number of leakage surveys Peoples had promised to complete each 

year starting in 2000.  Although Peoples claims that it used its best efforts, the results 

belie the claim.  In fact, with 68,936 past due leakage surveys at the end of 2003, it was 

within a thousand of being as far behind then as it had been at the beginning of 2000 

(69,780) when it was first notified of the violation. (Staff Ex. 1.0, Ex. D)  

 At first blush, it appears that Peoples made progress in 2004 when it completed 

52,297 due or past due leakage surveys.  (Id.)  However that number pales when one 

considers that 71,123 leakage surveys came due to be completed that year.  (Id.)  The 

71,123 surveys that came due were a result of Peoples, having completed that number 

5 years previously.  Again, one is left to wonder how Peoples was able to complete 

71,123 leakage surveys prior to being notified of the violation and prior to the time that it 

committed to completing 75,000 leakage surveys annually, yet 5 years later could only 

complete 52,297.  The record provides no evidence to support that there was any 

change in circumstances.  The record does demonstrate that at the end of 2004 after 5 

years of what Peoples claims was a good faith effort at coming into compliance with the 

inside leakage survey requirement, Peoples found itself with a larger inventory of due 

and past due leakage surveys than when it began its attempts at compliance in 2000.  

The facts in the record fly in the face of Peoples’ arguments of good faith.   

  

B. Gravity of the Violation 

 Peoples defends its position that the failure to perform the required inside 

leakage surveys is not a grave offense by stating: that Peoples “did not create an actual 
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safety threat for its customers” (Peoples IB, p. 14), that “evidence of gas leaks were 

found in less than 0.6%” of leakage surveys conducted since January 2000 (Id.), and 

that the failure to conduct the survey is “not an actual safety threat” but “a potential 

harm”.  (Id., pp. 14-15)   

 Staff has never alleged that Peoples created a safety threat.  Staff’s position is 

that leakage surveys are critical to ensuring the safety and integrity of the natural gas 

distribution system as they provide an opportunity to take corrective action on otherwise 

undiscovered leaks which could cause explosions or fires and thus the loss of property 

or life.  (Staff Ex. 1.0, p. 3)  Completing inside leakage surveys on residential service 

lines once every 5 years is part of the Commission’s Minimum Safety Standards for 

Transportation of Gas and for Gas Pipeline Facilities (83 Ill. Adm. Code 590).  Peoples 

has neither complied with the requirement nor received a waiver from it.  The argument 

that Peoples’ disregard of the safety standards results in a minimal safety risk because 

it creates a potential harm rather than an actual safety threat (see Peoples. IB, p. 15), 

ignores the nature of the subject matter.   

 As indicated in Peoples’ Gas Service Department Manual: any accumulation of 

natural gas must be considered hazardous and leak investigation is one of the most 

important phases of gas service work.  (See Staff Ex. 2.0, Ex. A, p. 1, Section 11.1)  

Peoples admitted that it found 2,688 leaks since 2000 during its inside residential 

leakage surveys: this is the number of gas leaks found in the “less than .06%” of the 

leakage surveys conducted since January 2000.  (Staff Ex. 2.0, p. 2, Peoples IB, p. 14)  

Peoples attempted to minimize the significance of the leaks by stating that “most are 

very minor leaks detectable with instruments only” and that “most customers become 

aware of potentially unsafe conditions well before the periodic inside safety 
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inspections...” (Resp. Ex. B, p. 2)  However, these statements ignore the very concerns 

that the inside leakage survey requirement was adopted to prevent: leaks which are 

only detectable by sensitive equipment and leaks which are not recognized by a gas 

consumer.  (Staff Ex. 2.0, p. 3)  To argue that 2,688 “minor” leaks do not raise a 

concern and reflect only a potential harm disregards the indisputable fact that natural 

gas is a highly volatile substance and that the potential harm in question is an explosion 

which, in a residence, would surely result in great loss of property and likely result in 

loss of life.  That potential harm is gigantic and unacceptable.   

 What is more, Peoples has failed to act responsibly and come into compliance 

with the inside leakage survey requirement within a reasonable timeframe.  Note that 

Staff worked with Peoples for a period of over 5 years before filing the Staff Report 

which resulted in the initiation of this proceeding.  By now, Peoples has allowed this 

potential harm to continue affecting tens of thousands of homes over a six year time 

span.   

 Peoples relies upon two orders from other jurisdictions which it claims are 

consistent with or support its position regarding the lack of gravity of harm of violating 

the leakage survey requirement.  Both cases are inapposite to the proceeding before 

the Commission.   

 First, Peoples relies upon a Michigan case, In re Consumers Energy Company, 

2002 Mich. PSC Lexis 277, Case No. U-13156, September 16, 2002.  Unlike this 

proceeding, the Michigan order is the result of a settlement agreement between the 

Company and the Michigan Public Service Commission (“MPSC”) Staff.  The MPSC 

order granted a partial waiver of the inside leakage survey requirement.  In the order, 

the MPSC instructed its Staff to notify the United States Department of Transportation’s 
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Office of Pipeline Safety (“USDOT”) of the issuance of the order.  Interestingly, by letter 

of November 25, 2002, the USDOT notified the MPSC that it objected to the Michigan 

waiver and therefore the waiver was stayed.  (See attached Ex. A)  Subsequently, on 

May 4, 2004, the USDOT notified the MPSC that it concurred with the waiver contingent 

upon the MPSC’s representations that the energy company was in the 3rd year of a ten 

year program to remove residential meters to outside locations and the work should be 

completed in 7 years.  (See attached Ex. B)  USDOT granted the waiver only based 

upon MPSC’s statement that “[i]n ten years the problem will not exist if this operator... is 

allowed through this waiver to use its resources to solve the problem permanently”.  

(Id.) 

 None of the facts of the Michigan case are present in this docket.  There is no 

settlement agreement between Staff and Peoples.  Nor has Peoples offered a program 

to permanently solve the inside leakage survey problem.  The facts in the Michigan 

case, where the Company worked cooperatively with the MPSC Staff to resolve the 

problem, are entirely different from the docket currently before the Commission.  In this 

docket, there is a disagreement regarding both the gravity of the harm of the violation 

and the good faith of Peoples in curing the violation.  Peoples citation to and reliance on 

the Michigan order should be disregarded. 

 The other order relied upon by Peoples is equally irrelevant.  Re Revisions 

Regulations Governing the Procedures Relating to the Inactivation, Abandonment and 

Leakage Survey of Gas Service Lines, 1994 WL 711411 (Mass. D.P.U. 94-142) 

September 29, 1994, is an order which initiated a rulemaking to consider whether 

changes should be made to the leakage survey requirements.  (See attached Ex. C)  

Peoples cites the concerns raised by the Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities 
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(“DPU”) regarding the leakage survey requirements.  However, in fact, the final order in 

the rulemaking concluded that the existing regulations governing the leakage surveys 

would remain in effect and unchanged.  (1995 WL 125607 Mass. DPU 94-142, 

February 27, 1995, see attached Ex. D)  No weight should be given to the references to 

this order as it simply consists of the reasoning behind the initiation of a rulemaking 

where no action was taken in the final order in regards to the leakage survey rules.   

C. Policy Considerations 

 The penalties provided for in the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act (“Act”) (See 220 

ILCS 20/6 and 7) provide the Commission with a tool to be used to encourage 

recalcitrant companies, such as Peoples, to maintain compliance with the Act.  The 

imposition of a $ 1 million dollar penalty on Peoples for its failure to come into 

compliance with federal and state minimum safety requirements regarding conducting 

inside leakage surveys is appropriate taking into consideration:  (1) the time period 

(over a six years) which has lapsed while Peoples remains out of compliance; (2) the 

indifference exhibited by Peoples in coming into compliance; (3) the number of 

households affected (in the tens of thousands); and (4) the potential harm that could be 

caused by an undetected leak (loss of life or property).   

 Peoples’ argument that the imposition of a $1 million penalty would be 

unprecedented and unfair is erroneous.  While the Commission has not previously 

imposed fines for violations of the inside leakage survey requirements, Staff has 

identified 3 previous Commission orders which discuss the imposition of fines for 

violations of the Act.   
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1. Docket No. 89-0475 
 
 In 1989, the Commission initiated a Citation order directing Illinois Power 

Company (“IP”) to show cause why civil penalties should not be imposed for violations 

of the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act, Docket No. 89- 0475.  IP and Staff entered into a 

stipulated settlement agreement, the Revised Agreement, in which IP agreed to 

implement all Staff’s recommendations in regards to the alleged violation.  (See Order, 

Docket No. 89-0475, January 15, 1992)  IP also agreed to pay a $6,000 penalty, which 

IP and Staff agreed was the maximum amount which could be imposed for the 

violations alleged.2  In the Revised Agreement, IP denied that it had violated the Act.  

The Revised Agreement also provided that it would not constitute a precedent for future 

issues which may arise between the parties.  The Commission stated that approval of 

the Revised Agreement turned upon whether it furthered the objectives of the Act to 

establish and enforce compliance with minimum standards for the transportation of gas 

and for pipeline facilities.  The Commission found that IP had agreed to remedy the 

situation that gave rise to the violation, to pay a compromised penalty viewed by Staff 

as the maximum amount which could be assessed, and to take steps intended to 

ensure that there would be no recurrences.  The Commission approved the Revised 

Agreement finding that it was consistent with Section 557 (now Section 7) and the other 

provisions and objectives of the Act and represented a reasonable resolution of the 

matter.  (Id.)   

2. Docket No. 93-0127 
 
 In 1993, the Commission entered a citation order against Monarch Gas 

Company (“Monarch”), Docket No. 93-0127, to show cause why civil penalties should 

                                            
2 At that time, the federal and state regulations regarding maximum penalties provided for a maximum of a $1,000 
penalty per violation and six separate offenses were charged.  (Id.) 
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not be imposed for three alleged violations of the Act.  After a contested hearing and 

the briefing schedules were completed, the Commission adopted Staff’s position and 

found against Monarch.  (Order, Docket No. 93-0127, March 22, 1995)  After 

considering the size of the Company, which had net operating income of $148,642 and 

$203,642 in the years 1993 and 1994, respectively, Staff recommended a total civil 

penalty of $54,000.  (Id.)  The Commission analyzed the gravity of the violation and the 

good faith of Monarch separately for each of the 3 violations.   

 The Commission imposed Staff’s recommended $1,000 penalty for Monarch’s 

failure to pressure test a service line.  This was one tenth the maximum allowable civil 

penalty for the violation, but the Commission noted the Company’s good faith in 

pressure testing the line on the same day that it was notified of the violation.  The 

Commission further concluded that the penalty appropriately considered the potential 

safety hazard resulting from the violation and the proximity of the line to residences.  

(Id.)   

 The second violation concerned the use of a PVC water pipe.  Staff 

recommended a penalty of $100 per day for each day between the date of notification 

of the violation until the violation was rectified, or 230 days.  In adopting Staff’s 

recommendation, the Commission found that Monarch had not operated in good faith.  

The Commission also stated,  

... In addition, a penalty in the amount recommended by Staff provides a 
signal to other companies to determine promptly whether pipe is in fact 
unauthorized and if so, remove unauthorized pipe.  If the Commission 
relieves Monarch of responsibility from the time the pipe was discovered, 
companies would have no incentive to ascertain quickly whether the pipe 
is unauthorized. ...  (Id.) 
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Thus, despite the consensus of Monarch and Staff that the gravity of the PVC pipe 

violation was less than that of the failure to pressure test the service line in terms of the 

threat to the public safety, based upon Monarch’s lack of good faith in coming into 

compliance, the Commission ordered Monarch to pay a $23,000 fine for the violation.  

(Id.) 

 The third violation was Monarch’s failure to properly discontinue service at 15 

separate locations.  Staff testified that Monarch had a history of not properly 

discontinuing service and that it had found the same violation on previous occasions.  

Staff and Monarch disagreed regarding the seriousness of the violation with Staff 

alleging it to be the most serious and Monarch arguing that it was the least serious 

offense.  The Commission concluded that the repetitive nature of the violation was an 

indication of bad faith on the part of Monarch.  It adopted Staff’s proposed penalty of 

$2,000 per instance and found that the penalty recognized the repetitive nature of the 

violation.  The Commission found that improper service disconnections constituted 15 

serious violations that jeopardized public safety. (Id.) 

3. Docket No. 90-0362 
 
 In a citation case against Central Illinois Light Company (“CILCO”), Docket No. 

90-0362, CILCO and Staff entered in a Stipulated Settlement Agreement 

(“Agreement”).  The citation alleged that CILCO failed to pressure test service lines as 

required by its operating procedures.  (Order, Docket No. 90-0363, September 20, 

2000)  This resulted in a gas explosion.  In the Agreement, CILCO did not admit to the 

violations, but it agreed to change its operating procedures in such a way as to satisfy 

all the recommendations made by Staff and to enhance pipeline safety not only in 

regards to service lines, but also in other areas of CILCO’s gas operations.  (Id.)  
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CILCO also agreed to pay the maximum civil penalty that could be imposed in the 

case.3  The Agreement provided that it did not constitute precedent for future issues 

between the parties or with respect to other gas pipeline operators.  (Id.)   

 In its order approving the Agreement, the Commission stated that approval of a 

settlement brought under the Act, absent an admission of violations or a determination 

of violations through litigated hearing turns upon a finding of whether the settlement 

furthers the goal of the Act and otherwise represents a reasonable resolution of the 

matter.  The Commission stated that CILCO had remedied the situation that gave rise 

to the explosion, had agreed to pay the maximum penalty that could be imposed, and 

had taken steps intended to enhance safety in all operating areas of the Company.  

The Commission found that through the Agreement, the deterrent objectives of the Act 

had been met in a way that fosters voluntary compliance without the expenditure of 

resources for costly litigation and therefore approved the Agreement.  (Id.) 

4. CILCO Cases 
 
 Peoples has attempted to draw a contrast between Staff’s recommendation in 

the instant proceeding as compared to the Commission action in Central Illinois Light 

Company Proposed general increase in gas rates, Docket No. 94-0040.  (See Peoples 

IB, p. 18)  However, Peoples has misconstrued the facts surrounding that proceeding.  

In the CILCO rate case, the Commission found that CILCO had engaged in a course of 

conduct that led to the existence of a substantial threat to public safety, and which 

necessitated the immediate and accelerated replacement of the majority of the cast iron 

system and the expenditure of significant sums that would not have been spent but for

                                            
3 At that time the maximum penalty was $1,000 for each violation for each day the violation persists.  A $10,000 
penalty was imposed as a maximum of 10 service lines were involved in the violation.  (Id.) 
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CILCO's imprudence.  (Order, Docket No. 94-0040, pp. 25-26, December 12, 1994)  

The Commission also found that CILCO’s conduct was a substantial threat to public 

safety.  The Commission made a $ 7,065,000 reduction to CILCO's rate base4 and a 

$310,000 reduction in CILCO's depreciation expense.  (Id.) 

 The Commission never issued a citation order based upon the facts referenced 

in Docket No. 94-0040 because those issues were addressed in United States of 

America v. Central Illinois Light Co., 94-3249 in the United States District Court, Central 

District of Illinois, Springfield Division (“US v. CILCO”).  US v. CILCO was resolved by a 

consent decree on September 16, 1994.  According to the terms of the Consent Decree 

CILCO was fined $843,646.76 and ordered to pay $156,353.24 for the cost of the 

investigation.  In addition, CILCO agreed to accept a $4,824,563.00 disallowance in the 

pending rate case (Docket No. 94-0040). (See Consent Decree attached as Ex. E)  

CILCO also agreed to underwrite and not seek to recover through utility rates, the 

expense of an outside expert, chosen by the Commission, to examine its manuals and 

systems to insure that it was in compliance with all applicable statutes and regulations 

as well as agreeing to certain other conditions.  (Id.)   

D. Summary 

 
 This proceeding is only unique in the sense of the particular regulation Peoples 

is violating.  The Commission has historically taken very seriously the authority 

delegated to it by the legislature to establish and enforce compliance with minimum 

safety standards for the transportation of gas and for pipeline facilities.  In the past, the 

Commission has recognized the deterrent effect that penalties can have upon future 

violations either by the entity being fined or by other entities which may find themselves 

                                            
4 CILCO had agreed to accept a portion of this disallowance as discussed infra. 
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in similar situations in the future.  (See Monarch Gas and CILCO discussions supra)  

The small number of prior penalty cases identified by Staff is testament to the 

effectiveness with which the Commission has wielded the enforcement tools provided 

by the legislature. 

 A penalty is particularly appropriate in the matter at hand where Peoples, far 

from voluntarily coming into compliance or quickly implementing new policies to ensure 

compliance in the future, continues to deny the serious nature of the offense and states 

that “100% compliance is impractical”.  (Peoples IB, p. 13)  Peoples continues to take 

this position, six years after having been notified that it is in violation of the minimum 

federal and state safety regulations.  Neither has Peoples requested a waiver of the 

regulations.5  It appears that Peoples is of the view that compliance with the minimum 

safety standards is optional.   

 Indeed the only truly exceptional characteristic of this proceeding is Peoples’ 

absolute aplomb in refusing to comply with the safety standards that it is this 

Commission’s duty to enforce.  Because of the enormity, in terms of duration and in 

terms of households affected, of the violation Staff recommends a $1 million penalty.  

Staff proposed that the penalty be calculated as $20 for each of the 87,762 meters that 

were past due on January 1, 2005.  (Staff Ex. 1.0)  Because this calculation exceeds 

the $1 million maximum penalty that may be assessed, Staff did not calculate the 

penalty which would be imposed if each day the violation existed was counted as a 

separate violation as provided for in the Act at Section 7.  (Id.) The penalty may be 

calculated in any number of ways, but given the number, the protracted duration, the 

ongoing nature, and the gravity of the violations, it is difficult to conceive of a calculation 

                                            
5 Illinois rules must be at least “as inclusive, as stringent, and compatible with...” the federal minimum safety 
standards (220 ILCS 20/3), thus any waiver would have to be approved through the USDOT. 
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method that would result in a penalty of less than $1 million.  In any event the same 

considerations, i.e., the number, the duration, the ongoing nature, and the gravity of the 

violations, make it clear that it is necessary to send Peoples a clear message that the 

Commission will not tolerate disregard for safety regulations.   

 

III. CONCLUSION 
 
 WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, the Staff of the Illinois Commerce 

Commission respectfully requests the Commission: 

1.  Find that Peoples is in violation of 83 Ill. Adm. Code 590.10 which adopts 

49 CFR 192.723(b)(2) as the minimum safety standards for the 

transportation of gas and for gas pipeline facilities; 

2. Find that Peoples gas has been in violation of 83 Ill. Adm. Code 590.10 

since January 10, 2000; 

3. Find that Peoples is a large natural gas distribution company with net utility 

operating income of $58,682,020 in 2004; 

4. Find that Peoples’ failure to comply with 83 Ill. Adm. Code 590.10 (adopting 

49 CFR 192.723(b)(2)) from January 2000 to the present is a grave 

violation of the safety standards; 

5. Find that Peoples has failed to demonstrate that it acted in good faith in 

attempting to achieve compliance with 83 Ill. Adm. Code 590.10 (adopting 

49 CFR 192.723(b)(2)); 

6. Order that Peoples shall be charged a penalty of $1,000,000; and  

7. Allow such other and further relief, as this Commission deems appropriate.  
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       Respectfully submitted,    

        
       __________________________ 
       Janis Von Qualen 
       Counsel for the Staff of the Illinois 
January 11, 2006     Commerce Commission 
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